
17 September 2018

NOTICE OF MEETING

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on

Tuesday, 25 September 2018
beginning at

7:00 pm
at

Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Paul Bicknell (Chair)
Councillor Tina Campbell (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Alex Bourne Councillor Daniel Clarke
Councillor Jephthe Doguie Councillor Wayne Irish
Councillor Darshan Mann Councillor Rosemary Reynolds
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne

Staff Contacts: Laura Johnston, Lead Specialist Democratic Services
Tel: 023 8068 8041; Email:  emocraticServices@eastleigh.gov.uk

Guy Riddoch, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 3369; 
Email: guy.riddoch@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Performance and Governance Manager

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website -
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings

as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the 
meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed. To 

register please contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording 

and photography at meetings open to the public, and that Councillors will be 
using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
 Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


AGENDA

1. Chairman's Report    

2. Public Participation    

3. Minutes    (Pages 1 - 6) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 4 September 2018. 

4. Apologies    

5. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

6. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

7. Planning Application - Former Civic Office Site, Eastleigh    (Pages 7 - 36) 

Erection of four storey office block (with car parking at ground floor), roof plant 
room, 200 car parking spaces, landscaping and associated works. (Ref: 
F/18/83492) 

8. Air Quality - Six Monthly Update    (Pages 37 - 62)

9. Planning Appeals     

The Legal Services Manager to report:-

(a) that the following appeal has been lodged:-
 

1 Portchester Rise, Eastleigh – Appeal against the Council’s refusal to fell 1 
no. oak tree (Ref: T/18/83426)

This was a delegated decision.

(b) that the following appeals have been dismissed:-

107 Bournemouth Road, Chandler’s Ford – Appeal against the Council’s 
refusal of the erection of a 4-bay oak fronted detached garage with catslide 
roof. (Ref: H/18/82477)

This was a delegated decision. 

12 Friars Road, Eastleigh – Appeal against the Council’s refusal of erection 
of 2no. 2 bed semi-detached dwellings with parking to the rear of 10, 10a 
and 12 Friars Road. (F/17/80840)

This was a delegated decision.  



DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Tuesday, 27 November 2018 at 7:00 pm

at Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, 
Eastleigh, SO50 9YN

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news-

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1

  EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 4 September 2018  (7:00 pm – 8:02 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Bicknell (Chair); Councillors Campbell, Bourne, Clarke, Doguie, 
Irish, Mann and Tyson-Payne

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Reynolds

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

12. MINUTE SILENCE

The Chair noted the recent sad passing of Norman Brown MBE.

Councillor Irish paid tribute to Norman, who was a great character that 
would do anything for anybody. He contributed a lot to Eastleigh as a 
borough and always showed a keen interest in what was happening. He 
had also served during the war and the D-Day landings, which was 
fantastic, as well as significant contribution towards Remembrance. 
Norman would be missed greatly. 

All members of the Committee stood for a minute’s silence in memory of 
Norman. 

13. CHAIRMAN'S REPORT

The Chair reported that the Eastleigh Pride event would be held on 
Saturday 8 September; this was the first event in Eastleigh and it was 
hoped that it was a great success and led to future such events in 
forthcoming years.

In addition, there would also be an event at Leah Gardens on Saturday 8 
September 2018, with demonstrations from the artist who would be 
creating the art work for the new development, with the opportunity to be 
involved and try your hand at being a blacksmith.  

On 15 September 2018, the Eastleigh Remembers event would be held; 
this was shaping up to be a very big event that would raise awareness of 
World War One, building up to the official commemorations on 11 
November 2018. 

14. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Simon Payne addressed the Committee regarding the following matters:-

1

Agenda Item 3



2

At the Committee on 30 January 2018 it was requested that written 
responses to public participation were attached to the following set of 
minutes so that these were shared with the committee. He asked whether 
this was still the case.

The levels of dirt on the high on the roads around the Stoneham 
development had increased due to construction on the site. A Construction 
Management Plan was in place that covered keeping the roads clean, 
however he had only seen the road being swept on one occasion. He 
asked whether Members could work with the developers to address this 
issue.

There continued to be fly-tipping at the Doncaster Farm site and he asked 
whether anything could be done to secure the site and clean it up.

Finally, in January 2017 the committee resolved that up to £30, 000 be 
allocated for prevention of illegal encampments on the Passfield Avenue 
site.  At the time there was talk of a potential gate being put in place 
however wooden posts were used and there had been instances where 
access had been gained onto the site recently.

The Chair advised that since he had been Chair of the committee, there 
had been no written responses required and as long as residents get their 
responses, he did not see the need make report packs even larger.

With regards to the Stoneham development, he would feedback to the 
project management team to pass back to Highwood to ensure that more 
sweeping was completed along the roads.

He noted that the fly-tipping had been reported and was being monitored. 

In reference to the illegal encampments, he advised that it was noticed 
after the most recent access was made that one of the posts was laid on 
the ground, which had left a gap wide enough to get a van through; 
however nobody saw how they got access to the site. Unfortunately, if 
individuals wanted to resort to potentially forcibly entering the site, this was 
a difficult issue to address. It was a fine balance with target hardening 
public open space between how much tax payer money was spent, as well 
as keeping the nice visual element to the space. The original plan for 
Passfield Avenue was posts all the way around the site, which would not 
have been as visually appealing, which is why it was agreed on the use of 
the trees and mounds, as well as the lockable moveable bollards for site 
access. It was a difficult situation unless a disproportionate amount of 
money was spent or large fences which weren’t visually amenable were 
used. A large sum as a whole Borough had been spent on target 
hardening of sites to prevent illegal encampments and this would continue 
to be addressed to ensure preventative measures were in place. 

2



3

15. MINUTES

RESOLVED -

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 June 2018 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

16. AIR QUALITY MONITORING - SIX MONTHLY UPDATE

The Chair brought this item forward and explained that it had been pulled 
from the agenda as there was not going to be a report. He noted this was 
very disappointing and unacceptable, as Air Quality was a very important 
issue that needed to be discussed.  

Andrew Trayer, Corporate Director for Service Delivery, attended and 
addressed Members regarding the failure to provide the report in a timely 
manner to enable it to be presented to committee. He sincerely apologised 
to Members and expressed disappointment that such an important issue 
was not able to be discussed due to this. He advised that the report was 
currently being worked on to ensure that it was meaningful and in a 
position to be distributed and presented to the Committee at an additional 
meeting that was due to be held on 25 September 2018.

Members thanked Andrew Trayer for attending and expressed their 
disappointment that the report had been delayed. It was requested the 
report that was written would be as robust and detailed as possible to 
reflect all of the work that was being completed on Air Quality and that the 
yearly statutory reports on Air Quality were brought to Committee as a 
priority at the correct time. 

17. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 

18. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES

Development Management staff gave a short presentation on guidelines 
that had to be taken into account when determining planning applications; 
in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account.  
This was set against the broader policy framework.

19. PLANNING APPLICATION - ROUNDABOUT ALONGSIDE M3 
MOTORWAY, JUNCTION 12 EASTLEIGH

The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing 
and Development (Agenda item 8) concerning an application for display of 
4no. sponsorship signs on the roundabout alongside M3 Motorway, 
Junction 12 Eastleigh. (Ref: A/18/83339)

3



4

RESOLVED -

That the advert consent be GRANTED subject to the recommended 
conditions. 

20. PLANNING APPLICATION - MITCHELL HOUSE, SOUTHAMPTON 
ROAD, EASTLEIGH

The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing 
and Development (Agenda item 8) concerning an application for change of 
use of existing office space (Class B1) to proposed Health Centre (Class 
D1) use with ancillary Pharmacy (Class A1) to feature on the ground floor; 
internal changes only, no associated external works. (Ref: 5/18/83119)

The Committee was advised of the following updates:-

An air quality monitoring and mitigation contribution was to be added to the 
Section 106 obligations and Condition 9 would be amended to reflect this.

The last sentence of paragraph 25 should be amended to read “The 
proposed use within Mitchell House also requires site specific 
considerations to ensure that it does not result in harm and is sustainable.”

There had been no further consultee responses received. 

RESOLVED -

That the application be PERMITTED subject to: 

(1) The recommended and updated conditions as above and in the 
report; and

(2) A Section 106 agreement, to include obligations for 
environmental improvements and Air Quality monitoring and 
mitigation with the final obligation amounts to be agreed in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair. 

21. PLANNING APPEALS

The Legal Services Manager reported:-

(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:-

86 Allbrook Knoll, Eastleigh – Appeal against the Council’s refusal 
of planning permission for a first floor rear extension over single 
storey and loft conversion including extension of main ridge. (Ref: 
H/18/82644)

This was a delegated decision. 

4



5

30 Grantham Road, Eastleigh – Appeal against the Council’s 
refusal for single and part two storey side extensions. (Ref: 
H/18/82636)

This was a delegated decision. 

RESOLVED –

That the report be noted. 

22. FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT

Consideration was given to a report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
item 11) that contained recommendations for expenditure from the 
Committee’s capital revenue budget.

Councillor Bourne proposed an amendment to the recommendation that 
instead of part loan, part grant, a full £10,000 grant was given; this was 
seconded and Members voted on the amended recommendation.

RESOLVED -

That a £10,00 grant to the Eastleigh Youth and Community Trust for a 
new IT system for the Pavilion on the Park from developers’ 
contributions be approved. 

M6089

5



This page is intentionally left blank



ELAC – Eastleigh Local Area Committee Tuesday 4 September 2018. 
 
Application Number: F/18/83492 

 
Case Officer: Gary Osmond 
Received Date: Monday 25 June 2018 
Site Address: Former Civic Office Site,  Villeneuve St Georges Way, 

Eastleigh, SO50 9SJ 
Applicant: Eastleigh Borough Council 

 
Proposal: Erection of four storey office block (with car parking at 

ground floor), roof plant room, 200 car parking spaces, 
landscaping and associated works 
 

Recommendation: The application be delegated to the Council’s Housing 
and Development Lead Specialist in consultation with 
the Committee Chair and Vice Chair of the Eastleigh 
Local Area Committee, to grant planning approval 
subject to:  
 
i) the receipt of further satisfactory amended plans and 
consideration of representations and consultation 
responses; 
 
ii) no material objection from Hampshire County Council 
Highways; 
 
iii) no material objection from Hampshire County Council 
Flood and Water Management Team; 
 
iv) confirmation that the development will meet BREEAM 
‘Excellent’; 
 
v) any necessary condition additions or amendments, 
including updating the list of approved drawings set out 
in Condition 1; and 
 
vi) developers contributions towards: a) sustainable 
transport measures; b) environmental improvements 
and mitigation; c) replacement tree planting; and d) 
public art. 
 

 

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS 
 
1 
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 17-243-SGP-XX-XX-DR-A-0902 Rev P02, 17-
243-SGP-XX-XX-DR-A0905 Rev P03, 17-243 A009, 17-243-SGP-B1-00-DR-A-
0920 Rev P2, 17-243-SGP-B1-01-DR-A-0920 Rev P2, 17-243-SGP-B1-02-DR-

7

Agenda Item 7



A-0920 Rev P2, 17-243-SGP-B1-03-DR-A-0920 Rev P2, 17-243-SGP-B1-04-
DR-A-0920 Rev P3, 17-243-SGP-B1-ZZ-DR-A-0100 Rev P5, 17-243-SGP-B1-
ZZ-DR-A-0940 Rev P2, 17-243-SGP-B1-ZZ-DR-A-0941 Rev P2, 17-243-SGP-
B1-ZZ-DR-A-0960 Rev P2, 17-243-SGP-B1-ZZ-DR-A-0961 Rev P2, 1853-18-
01 rev C, 1853-18-03 rev B, 1853-18-02 rev A, CPW-180093-E-004 Rev T2, 
NK019291-RPS-SI-XX-DR-C0300 Rev P03, NK019291-RPS-SI-XX-DR-C0301 
Rev P03, NK019291-RPS-SI-XX-DR-C0701 Rev P02, NK019291-RPS-SI-XX-
DR-C-0710 Rev P01 & 17-243-SGP-XX-XX-DR-A0910 Rev P04. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

2 
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision. 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 
 

3 
 
 

No development shall start until the following details have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:  
a) details and/or samples of the materials to be used in the construction of the 
external surfaces of the development; 
b) construction details of external features including: i) the ground floor car park 
screening panels; ii) car park ceiling finish; iii) vertical 'fin' detailing; iv) parapet 
coping detail; v) roof terrace balustrades; vi) screening for roof mounted plant; 
and vii) main entrance feature; and 
c) the provision to be made for external lighting. Lighting shall be designed and 
located to minimise light spillage and avoid impacting on flight corridors used by 
bats. 
The development shall not be occupied/brought into use until the approved 
details have been fully implemented unless agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the locality. 
 

4 
 
 

No work shall commence on site until the following has been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by the LPA: 
a) a Report of Preliminary Investigation comprising a Desk Study, Conceptual 
Site Model, and Preliminary Risk Assessment documenting previous and 
existing land uses of the site and adjacent land in accordance with national 
guidance and as set out in Contaminated Land Report Nos. 11, CLR11, and BS 
10175:2011+A2:2017 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of 
Practice, and, unless otherwise agreed with the LPA; 
b) a Report of a site investigation documenting the ground conditions of the site 
and incorporating chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the 
Preliminary Investigation and in accordance with BS 10175:2011+A2:2017, and 
BS 8576:2013  and unless otherwise agreed with the LPA; and 
c) a detailed site specific scheme for remedial works and measures to be 
undertaken to avoid the risk from contaminants and/or gases when the site is 
developed and proposals for future maintenance a and monitoring. 
Such a scheme shall include nomination of a competent person to oversee the 
implementation of the works. 
Reason: To ensure that potential contamination is suitably investigated and 
dealt with. 

8



  
 

5 
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied / brought into use until 
there has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification by the 
competent person approved under the provisions of condition 4(c) that any 
remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of condition 
4(c) has been implemented fully in accordance with the approved details 
(unless varied with the written permission of the Local Planning Authority in 
advance of implementation). Unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority such verification shall comply with the guidance contained in CLR11 
and EA Guidance for the Safe Development of Housing on Land Affected by 
Contamination - R&D Publication 66: 2008. Typically such a report would 
comprise: 
a) a description of the site and its background, and summary of relevant site 
information; 
b) a description of the remediation objectives and remedial works carried out; 
c) verification data, including - data (sample locations/analytical results, as built 
drawings of the implemented scheme ,photographs of the remediation works in 
progress, etc.; and 
d). certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left in-situ is free 
from contamination, gas / vapour membranes have been installed correctly. 
Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with 
the scheme approved under condition 4(c). 
Reason: To ensure that potential contamination is suitably investigated and 
dealt with. 
 

6 
 
 

No development shall start until details of a sustainable drainage system have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
details shall include: 
a) the SuDS layout; 
b) control measures such as fat and oil interceptors to limit pollutants leaving 
the site; 
c) surface water filtration measures; 
d) measures to ensure that surface water flows from the site into the Monks 
Brook are maintained at current levels; 
e) a timetable for its implementation; and 
f) a management/maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development including 
any arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker, or 
any other arrangements to secure the effective operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime. 
The agreed details and system shall be implemented and thereafter managed 
and maintained in accordance with the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory drainage for the development and to protect 
local biodiversity and the Monks Brook watercourse. 
 

7 
 
 

No development shall start until details for the disposal of foul sewerage from 
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall then accord with 
the approved details.  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory provision of foul water drainage. 

9



 
8 
 
 

No development shall start until a landscaping scheme has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall 
cover all hard & soft landscaping including trees and roof terrace planting, 
boundary treatment on and immediately adjoining the site, and shall provide 
details of timings for all landscaping and any future maintenance. The works 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans and to the 
appropriate British Standard.  
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard 
the amenities of neighbouring uses. 
 

9 
 
 

All hard & soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatment shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details and to the appropriate 
British Standard. For a period of 5 years after planting, any trees or plants 
which are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be 
replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of the same species, 
size and number as originally approved in the landscaping scheme.  
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard 
the amenities of neighbouring uses. 
 

10 
 
 

No development shall start until a BREEAM ‘Excellent’ interim stage certificate 
and sustainability report demonstrating how all of the essential requirements for 
non-residential development of the Eastleigh Borough Council adopted 
Supplementary Planning Document ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’ 
are to be met, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure the development meets the non-residential requirements of 
the adopted Supplementary Planning Document ‘Environmentally Sustainable 
Development’. 
 

11 
 
 

The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until a BREEAM 
‘Excellent’ final stage certificate and sustainability report highlighting how all of 
the essential requirements for non-residential development of the Eastleigh 
Borough Council adopted Supplementary Planning Document ‘Environmentally 
Sustainable Development’ have been met, have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure the development meets the non-residential requirements of 
the adopted Supplementary Planning Document ‘Environmentally Sustainable 
Development’. 
 

12 
 
 

No development shall start until details of the accesses, including any footway 
and verge crossing have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied / brought into 
use until the approved details have been fully implemented unless agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure satisfactory vehicular, pedestrian and cycle access. 
 

13 
 
 

No development shall start until details for the on-site provision of bin & cycle 
storage facilities have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall not be occupied until the bin & cycle 

10



storage has been provided in accordance with the approved details and 
thereafter retained and kept available.  
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of on-site facilities. 
 

14 
 
 

No work shall start until the developer has secured the implementation of a 
programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of 
investigation and recording which has first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure that the archaeological interest of the historic site is properly 
safeguarded and recorded. 
 

15 
 
 

Before construction commences details of biodiversity mitigation and 
enhancement measures shall be be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The agreed measures shall then be implemented in 
full prior to the occupation of the building, unless agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure suitable mitigation and enhancement for lost habitat. 
 

16 
 
 

No vegetation clearance shall occur on site during the bird nesting season 
[between 1st March & 31st August] unless supervised by an appropriately 
qualified ecologist.  
Reason: To prevent harm to breeding birds. 
 

17 
 
 

Development shall not commence until a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) detailing construction SuDS and other mechanisms 
to ensure that there is no pollution of the nearby Monks Brook has been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed 
CEMP shall then be followed in full throughout the course of construction 
works.  
Reason: To ensure water quality within Monks brook and into the River Itchen is 
preserved and protected species populations are not impacted. 
 

18 
 
 

No development shall start until a scheme of work detailing the extent and type 
of piling proposed has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall accord with the approved details.  
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties and 
users of the park. 
 

19 
 
 

Prior to the commencement of development details of measures to protect the 
neighbouring listed buildings from damage during the course of construction 
works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These approved measures must be implemented in full and be 
retained throughout the course of external construction works. 
Reason: To protect heritage assets. 
 

20 
 
 

No construction work shall start until a Method Statement has been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Construction work 
shall only take place in accordance with the approved method statement which 
shall include:  
a) a programme and phasing of construction work, including parking areas and 

11



landscaping;  
b) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material and 
plant storage areas used during construction;   
c) the arrangements for the routing/turning of lorries and details for construction 
traffic access to the site;  
d) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works, 
loading/unloading of plant & materials and  restoration of any damage to the 
highway including vehicle crossovers and grass verges; 
e) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;   
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt generated by construction;  
g) provision for storage, collection, and disposal of rubbish from the 
development during construction period;  
h) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during construction; 
i) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
j) temporary lighting; and 
k) protection of pedestrian routes during construction.  
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the locality. 
 

21 
 
 

No development, or site preparation, shall commence until an updated 
Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan prepared in 
accordance with BS5837:2012 are submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. This statement will include methodology for: 
a) installation of protective fencing and ground protection; 
b) excavations and the requirement for specialised trenchless techniques where 
required for the installation of services; 
c) installation of new hard surfacing, including construction methods, materials, 
design constraints and implications for levels; 
d) retaining structures to facilitate changes in ground levels; 
e) preparatory work for new landscaping; and 
f) auditable system of arboricultural site monitoring including a schedule of 
specific site events requiring input or supervision. 
The approved Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan shall 
be adhered to in full in accordance with the approved plans and may only be 
modified subject to written approval from the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To retain and protect the retained and neighbouring trees which form 
an important part of the amenity of the locality. 
 

22 
 
 

Before any equipment, materials or machinery are brought onto the site for the 
purposes of development, a pre-commencement site meeting between the 
Local Planning Authority’s Arboricultural Officer, the Arboricultural  Supervisor 
appointed on behalf of the developer and the Site Manager shall take place to 
confirm the protection of trees on and adjacent to the site in accordance with 
the  Arboricultural Impact Appraisal approved as part of any reserved matters 
application, the Arboricultural Method Statement and the Tree Protection Plan. 
This condition shall not be discharged until an arboricultural supervision 
statement, the contents of which are to be discussed and agreed at the pre-
commencement meeting, is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority on completion of development.  Reason: To retain and 
protect the existing trees which form an important part of the amenity of the 

12



locality. 
 

23 
 
 

No development, or site preparation prior to operations which has any effect on 
compacting, disturbing or altering the levels of the site, shall take place until a 
suitably qualified person appointed on behalf of the developer and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority has been appointed to supervise construction 
activity occurring on the site. The arboricultural supervisor  appointed on behalf 
of the developer will be responsible for the implementation of protective 
measures, special surfacing and all works deemed necessary to ensure 
compliance with the approved arboricultural method statement and that all such 
measures to protect trees are inspected by the Local Planning Authority 
Arboricultural Officer prior to commencement of works and any vehicle 
movements on site related to the development.  
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of 
the amenity of the locality. 
 

24 
 
 

Before any development is commenced a scheme of works detailing the 
mitigation measures to control noise, vibration and dust from the development, 
including piling, shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority. (The scheme shall detail the mitigation measures for 
protecting existing and proposed dwellings from noise and vibration, and as 
deemed necessary by the Local Planning Authority). The assessment should 
have due regard to the advice and guidance contained in British Standard 
BS5228:2009 (A1 2014) “Noise And Vibration Control On Construction And 
Open Sites”.  
Reason: To protect the amenities of occupiers of any nearby premises and 
minimise the risk of vibration damage to neighbouring building. 
 

25 
 
 

Any fixed plant or machinery used on site shall be provided with suitable 
acoustic attenuation, or sited at agreed locations, to mitigate the effects of noise 
as approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the locality. 
 

26 
 
 

No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the 
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays.   
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby uses. 
 

27 
 
 

No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.  
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties and 
users of the park. 
 

28 
 
 

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a plan 
showing the visibility splays at the access onto Kornwestheim Way have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Nothing 
over 0.6 metres in height above the level of the carriageway shall be placed or 
permitted to remain within the approved visibility splay. 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

13



 
29 
 
 

The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until the 
parking areas for staff has been constructed, surfaced and marked out in 
accordance with the approved plans. The approved parking areas shall not 
thereafter be used for any purpose other than the turning, parking, loading and 
unloading of vehicles.  
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of highway 
safety. 
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner. 
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: It is requested that the building works are carried out 
considerately to minimise disruption to the occupiers of the neighbouring 
properties. The council operates a code of best practice, which is available on 
the council's website www.eastleigh.gov.uk by following the links to Planning, 
Guidance on the process, scroll down to Guidance on Aspects of the Planning 
& Construction Process and select considerate builders advice note. 
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: the permission does not authorise the undertaking of any 
works involving excavations in the carriageway, footway or verge. A road 
opening permit must be obtained from Hampshire Highways, HCC call centre 
number 0845 6035633. 
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: A formal application for connection to the water supply is 
required in order to service this development. Please contact Southern Water, 
Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire, SO21 2SW (35) 
or www.southernwater.co.uk 
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: The applicant/developer should enter into a formal 
agreement with Southern Water to provide the necessary sewerage 
infrastructure required to service this development. Please contact Southern 
Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire, SO21 
2SW (36) or www.southernwater.co.uk 
 

 
 
 

Note to Applicant: A formal application for connection to the public sewerage 
system is required in order to service this development. Please contact 
Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire, 
SO21 2SW (37) or www.southernwater.co.uk 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

14



Report: 
 

This application has been referred to Committee because Eastleigh Borough 
Council is the applicant, it is for a major development, and is in the public 
interest. 

 
Description of Application 

 
1. This application seeks consent for the erection of four storey office block 

comprising 5,229 square metres net of office space, 6,879 square metres 
gross external area, with a maximum height of 20.6 metres from ground floor 
level. The ground floor will accommodate the main reception area and 
ancillary service accommodation but will mainly be undercroft car parking. 
The main office accommodation will be housed on the first, second and third 
floors, with a separate roof mounted plant room. Up to 186 car parking spaces 
are proposed including 9 accessible spaces and 19 with electric charging 
pints, 44 cycle spaces and 15 motorcycle spaces, with vehicular access from 
Kornwestheim Way. The main pedestrian access is from Leigh Road with a 
further secondary access from Kornwestheim Way. The proposals also 
include landscaping and other associated works. 

 
2. The scheme now under consideration has been amended from that originally 

submitted in terms of site layout and the number of parking spaces proposed, 
as well as elevational treatment and landscaping. 

 
Site Area 

 
3. The application site equates to approximately 0.79 hectares. 

 
Topography, Trees & Boundary Treatment 

 
4. The application site is generally flat and level and currently relatively well 

screened by trees along the Leigh Road frontage. The larger specimens are 
on highway land outside of the application site boundary, with the remainder 
being within the site. All but a few on the very edges of the site are intended 
for removal. The site is currently surrounded by temporary hoardings following 
demolition of the former Civic Offices at the end of 2015. 

 
Site Characteristics & Character of Locality 

 
5. The application site sits at the northern end of Fleming Park and used to be 

the location of the Borough Council’s main offices until March 2014 when the 
Council moved into Eastleigh Town Centre. Since then the site has remained 
vacant, with the building being demolished at the end of 2015. Part of the site 
is currently being used as a temporary car park, now that the original carpark 
on the opposite side of Villeneuve St. Georges Way to the west is being 
developed to provide a new car dealership with construction nearing 
completion. 

 

15



6. The site is essentially open on almost all four sides, fronting onto Leigh Road 
to the north, Villeneuve St. Georges Way to the west and Kornwestheim Way 
to the south. The eastern boundary is adjacent to a group of former farm 
buildings which are now listed and have a very low rise scale, meaning that 
views of the development will also be available from the east. Leigh Road is 
the main western thoroughfare into Eastleigh Town Centre and is also part of 
the town’s western gateway being immediately next to Junction 13 of the M3 
motorway. It is also a very busy and well used route for both pedestrian, cycle 
and vehicular traffic, making the site very prominent and important in terms of 
townscape and the entrance into the town. An equally important view is from 
Fleming Park to the south where the site is also very open with little in the way 
of trees to soften or screen any development. 

 
7. The site is surrounded by a mix of uses including commercial, retail and 

offices, hotels, the Hampshire Fire and Rescue and Police Headquarters, as 
well as a number of public sports and leisure uses such as a bowling club and 
the new Places Leisure Centre, together with Fleming Park which is a large 
area of parkland open to the public for general recreational and sports use, 
and which is designated as an Historic Park and Garden. In addition to these 
commercial and public uses there are also a number of residential 
developments within reasonably close proximity, the nearest of which is on 
the opposite side of Leigh Road at Cherry Tree Court, as well as off Passfield 
Avenue to the east. 

 
Relevant Planning History 

 
8. As mentioned above, the adjacent site of the former Magistrates Courts to the 

west of the application site is now under development with the construction of 
a new car dealership and ancillary workshops. Full planning approval for this 
was granted by the Committee in August 2016 (F/16/78623), with a 
subsequent S73 application to amend the position of the building on site 
(X/17/80119) which was approved in July 2017. Prior to this the Committee 
resolved to grant outline approval for the redevelopment of the combined 
former Civic Offices and Magistrates Court sites (O/15/77116) in May 2016 
which included a car dealership, offices and restaurants. 

 
Representations Received 

 
9. At the time of writing five representations have been received highlighting the 

following issues: 
 

 Traffic impact and level of parking proposed 

 Highway safety 

 Height of building 

 Overdevelopment of site 

 Visually intrusive 

 Overshadowing and loss of privacy 

 Disturbance during construction 

 Proximity to and impact upon the neighbouring listed buildings 
 

16



Consultation Responses 
 

10. Landscape and Design Specialist – (Comments to originally submitted 
scheme) 

 
11. Some concern with regards to the visual impact upon Fleming Park due to the 

size and scale of the building, although appears appropriate when viewed 
from Leigh Road. Concern also expressed with regards to the relationship and 
proximity to the neighbouring listed buildings, as well as the impact of car 
parking upon their setting. 

 
12. The stepped back top floor and screening for roof mounted mechanical plant 

are a welcome move, as is the planting of the roof terraces. However, there is 
concern that the ground level is given over almost entirely to car parking. 

 
13. Eleven trees are noted for removal with a number of new trees proposed 

along the site boundaries as replacements. However, the choice of trees 
should be reconsidered and something more suitable for their intended setting 
chosen. There is also concern that insufficient space has been left to allow 
new trees and landscaping of any note to establish and that those proposed 
are too close to the building. 

 
14. It is considered that the site layout has been pushed to accommodate as 

many car parking spaces as possible. While disabled and electric charging 
points have been included, there are a number of spaces which appear to be 
difficult to enter and exit, as they have been pushed to the very edges of the 
site with little room to manoeuvre a vehicle comfortably. 

 
15. The proposal appears to be an overdevelopment of the site, which is 

dominated by car parking, leaving little room for worthwhile landscaping and 
replacement trees. A reduction of 5 – 10% in parking would allow the layout to 
breathe a little, loosen the layout and allow for more soft landscaping to soften 
the appearance of the building. 

 
16. The scheme also lacks any physical or visual connection with the park and 

does not appear to provide any form of alternative entrance from the south, 
which will be heavily used. 

 
(Comments on amended scheme) 

 
17. The access from Leigh Road has been reviewed, although the “plaza” to the 

front of the building still doesn’t constitute a positive space, being poorly 
defined and lacking enclosure. The entrance feature to the building sits off 
centre and seems to be an afterthought rather than an integrated with the 
building’s architecture. The front plaza also appears to be leaking into the car 
park, especially to the east. However, the width of the entrance does allow for 
some good quality landscape to be introduced. 

 
18. The pedestrian access from Fleming Park and subsequent route to the 

eastern edge of the building is welcome. However, the exit at the end of the 

17



disabled spaces does seem tight, and with a minor detour to reach the cycle 
shed. 

 
19. The reduction in parking spaces is positive, although these have 

predominantly come about by having the cycle store to the front, 
concentrating the disabled bays closer to the entrance and introducing the 
pedestrian link from the park. Despite the reduction, the site still feels 
overdeveloped with little breathing room for soft landscape proposals. 

 
20. No further comments on the building design which beyond a few extra bronze 

fins appears to be more or less as per its previous iteration. 
 

21. Hampshire Highways – Formal comments still awaited. 
 

22. Environmental Health Specialist – No objection subject to: conditions being 
applied with regards to protection of air quality during construction, principally 
dust; together with suitable land contamination investigations given the former 
use of the site; and a condition ensuring that any fixed plant will not result in 
unacceptable noise and disturbance to surrounding occupiers and uses. 

 
23. Tree Specialist – Excluding the two trees categorised as “U”, 11 significant 

trees are due for removal as part of the development proposal. This is a 
significant loss to the visual amenity of the location and for ecosystem service 
provision, with the current trees providing variation of species, age class and 
size. No justification has been provided, other than they fall under the 
development footprint. 

 
24. Whilst some mitigation has been attempted as part of car park tree planting, 

these, in general, are small stature species, which will not contribute equal 
levels of visual amenity or ecosystem services. Where large trees have been 
provided (e.g. Quercus robur), I am not convinced that they are afforded 
enough room for future growth potential.  

 
25. Given the size of the plot and the space around the proposed new building, a 

greater emphasis could have been placed on the provision of trees through 
either the retention of more of the existing trees, or through loss of some of 
the considerable car parking.  

 
26. Ecology Specialist – (Comments to originally submitted scheme) 

 
27. Concern with the number of trees to be removed and questions whether that 

layout could be altered to allow for the retention of more? 
 

28. The present site may be suitable habitat for reptiles, given its close proximity 
to Fleming Park but no survey has been carried out. Further information in 
relation to the lack of survey is required. 

 
29. The use of native species within the landscaping scheme is welcomed but the 

areas of soft landscaping need to be more extensive and link with existing 
habitat if they are to compensate for that to be lost. 

18



 
30. Details such as external lighting will need to be carefully considered so as to 

limit impact upon bats. It is also requested that biodiversity enhancements 
such as native planting, bird and bat boxes be considered and incorporated 
into the building’s design. 

 
(Comments on updated information) 

 
31. Previous comments still stand. The layout should be adjusted to allow for the 

retention of more trees and the soft landscaping (native planting) should be 
more extensive. 

 
32. Further consideration must be given to the currently proposed lighting scheme 

which is insensitive to the local ecology. 
 

33. Further discussion with the ecologist is required regarding reptiles. 
 

34. National and local policy requires that there is no loss in the biodiversity value 
of a site. In addition to this, policy states that there has to be a net gain for 
biodiversity. The proposals at this site currently contravene this policy and 
permission must not be granted until the proposals are amended. 

 
35. Natural England – Makes no comment on the application and advises that 

the LPA makes its own assessment. 
 

36. Hampshire County Council Flood and Water Management Team – 
(Comments to originally submitted scheme) 

 
37. Further information in relation to the existing drainage network and that of the 

previous development on site is required, together with evidence that the 
proposed drainage scheme will follow the same pattern as that previously on 
site and whether the drainage will connect to the adjacent culverted 
watercourse. Details are also required in relation to incidences of drainage 
failures and whether the drainage design has taken into consideration 
exceedances of the flows anticipated to prevent above ground flooding. 

 
(Comments on updated information) 

 
38. Comments on updated information awaited. 

 
39. Winchester and Eastleigh Design Review Panel – (Comments based on 

originally submitted scheme, not on the amended scheme now under 
consideration) 

 
40. Concerns were raised that insufficient account of the site’s surrounding 

context had been taken into consideration, especially the building’s 
relationship with the parkland to the south. The elevations were considered to 
be fussy and the main entrance to the building was not clearly legible. It was 
considered that the amount of car parking proposed was compromising the 

19



ability of the scheme to provide an appropriate setting for the building, scope 
for landscaping was limited and pedestrian routes through the site were poor. 

 
41. The view was that the scheme presented did not live up to the expectations of 

the original concept sketches or highlighted precedents. It was felt that such a 
prominent and important site required a building with more presence and a 
higher design quality. 

 
42. Built Heritage Consultant – No objection. The proposal has addressed 

many of the criticisms of previous proposals for the site, including the original 
Council offices. There is a reasonable landscaped buffer between the parking 
areas and listed farmhouse, and the main building steps back away a 
respectful distance from the listed building providing more room to improve 
their setting. It is important to ensure that enough planting is retained around 
the old granary building to enable its setting to have some semblance of its 
former rural position. 

 
43. Hampshire County Archaeologist – The site is located in an area with some 

archaeological potential. The projected line of the Winchester to Bitterne 
Roman road passes within 30 metres to the east of the site which raises the 
potential for Roman settlement activity in the immediate area, while evidence 
of Iron Age activity has been identified during previous archaeological 
investigations around 420 metres to the south east. While it is likely that the 
areas of the site located within the footprints of currently standing buildings 
will have been severely impacted by this previous development, any as yet 
unrecorded archaeological features and/or deposits may survive to a good 
degree in the current areas of car park and open land. Therefore, while the 
site has archaeological potential, the precise nature of this potential has still to 
be clearly established. 

 
44. Condition advised requiring the preparation of a written scheme of 

investigation be submitted and agreed prior to any works commencing on site. 
 

45. Economic Development Specialist – From an economic development 
perspective, any initiative that retains an important local employer in the 
borough is welcomed. 
 

46. As part of its inward investment strategy, the Council are actively looking to 
attract and retain environmentally-friendly companies to the Borough so it is 
good to see that a roof terrace, rainwater harvesting and 22 electric vehicle 
charging points are included as part of the scheme. 
 

47. It would however be good to see a reduction in the number of other car 
parking spaces, in line with best practice to reduce corporate fleet size. 

 
48. Southampton Airport Safeguarding – No objection subject to conditions 

being applied with regards to the submission of a Bird Hazard Management 
Plan and appropriate landscape planting, together with an advisory note 
relating to the use of cranes during construction. 

 

20



Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site 
 

 Within Built-up Area Boundary 

 Within Established Mixed Use Area 

 Designated Employment Site 

 Within Site of Archaeological Interest 

 Affects the Setting of a Listed Building 
 

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies:  
 

 20.CO – Landscape Improvements 

 25.NC – Nature Conservation 

 30.ES – Noise Sensitive Development 

 32.ES – Pollution Control 

 33.ES – Local Air Quality Management 

 34.ES – Energy & Climate Change 

 35.ES – Contaminated Land 

 36.ES – Lighting 

 43.ES – Flooding 

 45.ES – Surface Water Drainage 

 52.BE – Eastleigh Approach Roads 

 58.BE – Urban Greenspace 

 59.BE – Promoting Good Design 

 60.BE – Road & Rail Corridors 

 63.BE – Car Park Design 

 100.T – Transport & New Development 

 101.T – Transport Contributions 

 102.T – Site Access 

 103.T – Green Travel Plans 

 104.T – Car Parking 

 117.E – Redevelopment of Employment Sites 

 165.TA – Percentage for Art 

 168.LB – Archaeological Investigation 

 174.LB – Listed Buildings 

 177.LB – Historic Parks & Gardens 

 191.IN – Provision of Infrastructure 
 

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014 
 

49. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application 

 

21



Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2036 
 

50. The Council is at the pre-Submission publication stage (Regulation 19) of the 
emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan for the Period 2016 – 2036. The 
current consultation stage closed on 8th August 2018 with submission to the 
Secretary of State scheduled for Autumn 2018. The adoption of the Local 
Plan is anticipated in Summer 2019. Given the status of the emerging Plan, it 
is considered that limited weight can be attributed to it. 

 
Supplementary Planning Documents 

 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Biodiversity (December 2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable 
Development (March 2009) 

 Supplementary Planning Document: Planning Obligations (July 2008, 
updated 2010) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
51. Section 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018) states that – 

The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of 
sustainable development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of 
the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet 
their own needs. 

 
52. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three 

overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental – which are 
interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that 
opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each of the different 
objectives). These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the Framework.  

 
53. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding 

development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take local 
circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities 
of each area. 

 
54. So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of 

the Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development 
(paragraph 11). 

 
55. Section 6, paragraph 8 states, “Planning policies and decisions should help 

create the conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt. 
Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic growth 
and productivity, taking into account both local business needs and wider 
opportunities for development. The approach taken should allow each area to 
build on its strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the challenges of 
the future.” 
 

22



56. Section 7, paragraph 86 states, “Local planning authorities should apply a 
sequential test to planning applications for main town centre uses which are 
neither in an existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan. Main 
town centre uses should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre 
locations; and only if suitable sites are not available (or expected to become 
available within a reasonable period) should out of centre sites be 
considered.” 
 

57. Section 9, paragraph 103 states “Significant development should be focused 
on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need 
to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to 
reduce congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public health.” 

 
58. Section 12, paragraph 124 states, “The creation of high quality buildings and 

places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.” 

 
59. Section 15, paragraph 175 states that local planning authorities, when 

determining planning applications, should refuse applications “if significant 
harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be avoided (through 
locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts), adequately 
mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for”. 
 

60. Section 16, paragraph 184 states, “Heritage assets range from sites and 
buildings of local historic value to those of the highest significance, such as 
World Heritage Sites which are internationally recognised to be of 
Outstanding Universal Value61. These assets are an irreplaceable resource, 
and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance, so that 
they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing and 
future generations.” 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance  

 
61. Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 

of planning applications.  
 

Policy Commentary 
 

62. The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: planning policy and 
the principle of development; the layout and design of that proposed; its 
impact upon the street scene, adjoining parkland and wider character of the 
area; parking; traffic, access and highway safety issues; trees; nature 
conservation and biodiversity; drainage and flooding; environmental 
sustainability; impact upon the neighbouring listed buildings; archaeology; and 
the amenity of neighbouring uses and the surrounding area. 

 

23



Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 

 
63. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
64. In addition, the proposal affects a Listed Building or its setting and section 

66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states: 
 

“In considering whether to grant planning permission for development 
which affects a Listed Building or its setting, the Local Planning Authority … 
shall have regard to the desirability of reserving the building or its setting or 
any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses”. 

 
In this case policy issues for consideration include: 

 
Planning Policy 

 
65. The application site lies within the urban edge where the basic principle of 

development is considered to be acceptable, with any formal planning 
approval being based upon the exact nature, design and impact of that 
proposed being considered appropriate and in accordance with the relevant 
adopted Local Plan policies and Supplementary Planning Documents. The 
most relevant policies in this case are saved Policies 59.BE, 100.T, 101.T, 
117.E and 174.LB of the adopted Local Plan. 

 
66. Saved Policy 59.BE requires development to take full and proper account of 

the context of the site including the character and appearance of the locality 
and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also 
requires a high standard of landscape design, a satisfactory means of access 
and layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, to make provision for refuse 
and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through 
overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise and fumes. Also of 
relevance is Policy DM1 of the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016 - 
2036 which essentially reiterate the above requirements. 

 
67. Saved Policy 100.T relates to transport issues and states that proposed 

development will be considered acceptable provided: it is well served by 
public transport, cycling and walking; it includes measures to minimise its 
impact upon the existing transport network; that a choice of transport modes 
are available; and that a transport assessment is submitted where necessary. 
This is followed by saved Policy 101.T which requires any development which 
would result in additional traffic upon the local network to contribute towards 
required improvements resulting from the development. 

 
68. Saved Policy 117.E states that “Proposals for new development or 

redevelopment for employment purposes (use classes B1, B2 or B8) within 

24



existing employment sites identified on the proposals map will be permitted, 
provided they do not conflict with policy on the location of office development.”  

 
69. Saved Policy 174.LB relates to the alteration or extension of a Listed Building 

or any development within the curtilage of a Listed Building and states that 
development will not be permitted if it would result in a detrimental impact on 
the building or its setting. 

 
Principle 

 
70. With reference to saved Policy 117.E, the Council’s office policy has been to 

encourage new office development within the town centre, in order to help 
boost the town centre economy. However, whilst not within the town centre, 
the application site is an edge of centre site and had a long established office 
use dating from the mid-1970s until the Council relocated in 2014. 
Notwithstanding this a sequential assessment of alternative sites has been 
included within the submitted planning statement in support of the application. 
This firstly looked at those sites within the defined Eastleigh Town Centre 
which are physically capable of accommodating an office development of the 
scale proposed, and secondly whether they are currently available or likely to 
be available within a reasonable time period. This assessment concluded that 
there are no sites available within or closer to the town centre which could 
accommodate a development of a similar scale. 

 
71. Also of relevance is Policy E1 of the Emerging Local Plan. While not yet an 

adopted policy, it sets out the type of uses which would be considered 
acceptable for redevelopment of the application site, as well as highlighting 
particular areas/issues which will need to be adequately addressed if a 
proposal is considered to be acceptable. The policy states: 

 
Policy E1, Land at the Civic Offices and former Magistrates’ Court, 
Leigh Road, Eastleigh 
 
An area of approximately 1.9 hectares south of Leigh Road, Eastleigh 
as defined on the policies map is allocated for re-development. It is 
suitable for a range of uses including office (B1a) development or other 
uses providing employment, education/ training and/or meeting 
facilities, emergency or community uses and some residential 
development. Development will be subject to the approval by the 
Borough Council of a development brief and a masterplan which 
address the following requirements: 

 
a) residential uses are located on the southern part of the site, with other 

less noise-sensitive uses focussed on the northern part of site; 
b) development achieves a positive relationship with Fleming Park to the 

south of the site and Leigh Road to the north; 
c) development improves the setting of the adjacent listed building to the 

east of the site; 
d) development retains existing important trees within the site; 

25



e) the design and layout of development takes account of the noise and 
air quality issues adjoining the site; 

f) the main vehicular access to the site is provided from Leigh Road; 
g) contributions are made to the scheduled capacity improvements of the 

Leigh Road/ Passfield Avenue junction; and 
h) a site level Habitats Regulation Assessment is required to demonstrate 

how this site will be delivered without adverse effect on any European 
site. 

 
72. It should however be noted that while Policy E1 is useful for setting out 

potential development options for the site, this policy has not yet been 
adopted and therefore carries limited weight in determining the current 
planning application.  

 
73. What carries more weight is the resolution to approve the 2016 outline 

planning application. This establishes the acceptability of continuing to use 
the site for office purposes, which being a B1a use in planning terms, falls 
within the usually accepted ‘B’ class employment uses highlighted by saved 
Policy 117.E, as well as E1, and together with the submitted sequential 
assessment, it is considered that the principle of that proposed is acceptable 
with any formal approval being based upon the exact details of that proposed 
being considered acceptable. 

 
Layout & Design 

 
74. As set out above, the application seeks consent for the erection of a four 

storey office block with parking for 186 cars, together with landscaping and 
tree planting, accessed from both Leigh Road and Kornwestheim Way. The 
main pedestrian access is from Leigh Road with a further secondary access 
from Kornwestheim Way. Vehicular access is to be from Kornwestheim Way 
on the southern edge of the site. The proposals also include landscaping and 
other associated works. 

 
75. The building itself will sit centrally within the site and be orientated on a north-

south axis. The main entrance is to the north facing Leigh Road and includes 
a frontage forecourt or ‘plaza’, as well as a full height glazed atrium which 
would house the main reception area. Other than this reception area and 
some ancillary service facilities, the ground floor is almost entirely used for car 
parking, with the office accommodation being housed on the first, second and 
third floors wrapping around a central core with secondary stairwells at either 
end. The ground floor also includes an area for bin storage and motorcycle 
parking under the building, with a separate covered cycle shed located at the 
site entrance next to Leigh Road. The third floor is set back from the edges of 
the building to visually reduce its bulk, with the resulting space being used as 
a roof terrace which could be planted up to give it a softer green appearance. 

 
76. Elevationally the building uses a fairly standard curtainwall cladding and 

glazing system. Interest is provided via the pattern of fenestration and the 
installation of ‘bronze’ coloured vertical fins which are dotted along the 
elevations in various locations. The stairwells are expressed by strong vertical 

26



planes and the building is raised on what appear to be brick piers at ground 
floor level, although in reality it will be supported by a steel frame. Bronze 
coloured perforated panels would be set between these brick piers to hide the 
undercroft parking area but still provide ventilation. 

 
77. The building would be surrounded by car parking on all sides, other than 

where the main entrance plaza is located. The car park does include some 
areas of soft landscaping, including a low hedge which would run around the 
edge of the site next to Villeneuve St Georges and Kornwestheim Ways. The 
layout also includes some tree planting, albeit rather constrained given the 
limited space available for landscape planting. 

 
78. The extensive areas of hardstanding and minimal soft landscaping sit in stark 

contrast to the previous development accommodated on site. While the 
former Council offices were not necessarily architecturally attractive, they 
were well landscaped, especially to the Leigh Road frontage, which gave an 
appropriate setting for what was a civic building on a prominent site 
neighbouring the open parkland to the south. While it is acknowledged the 
scheme proposed is not intended to be a public or civic building, it will still 
occupy a prominent site adjacent to one of the main routes into the town and 
neighbouring a well-used and popular area of historic parkland. Its scale is 
also such that it will act as a physical ‘gateway’ into the town. As such, it 
should be of a high architectural standard not only in its appearance but also 
its setting and how it interacts with the adjacent uses.  

 
79. While the proposed scheme has potential to realize these goals, that currently 

presented it is not yet considered to have achieved the standard of design 
sought, both in its appearance and external layout. This has been highlighted 
by the Council’s Landscape and Design Specialists and the Winchester and 
Eastleigh Design Review Panel. The scheme as presented is dominated at 
ground level by car parking with little scope for soft landscaping which would 
soften and balance the strong built form of the building with its greener 
surroundings, especially onto the parkland. While some amendments to the 
main entrance onto Leigh Road have been undertaken, it is still not very 
clearly legible or prominent, with the frontage plaza bleeding out into the car 
park. Some improvements to pedestrian movement through the site have 
been undertaken with the introduction of a secondary pedestrian access onto 
Kornwestheim Way but it still involves movement through a car park, between 
parking bays and is not obvious. The building’s elevations are in places a little 
too busy and amendments to the scheme have resulted in some of the better 
and more prominent features being lost. 

 
80. Notwithstanding these concerns, the design and appearance of the building is 

of a sufficient design quality to meet the basic requirements of saved Policy 
59.BE. However, the professional design opinion is that it is still not of the 
architectural quality appropriate for such a prominent and important site at 
one of the gateways into the town and neighbouring an important area of 
public parkland. 

 

27



81. However, while the design of the building itself may be sufficient to meet 
policy requirements, strong reservations remain in relation to the quantity of 
car parking proposed and the impact this has upon the setting of the building 
and the ability to provide appropriate and worthwhile landscape and tree 
planting to mitigate for that intended for removal. 

 
Street Scene & Area Character 

 
82. As discussed above, the application site is very prominent both in terms of its 

location onto one of the main routes into and out of Eastleigh town but also 
given how publically visible the site is from all sides. Not only will it be visible 
from close up but also from distance across the parkland to the south of the 
site and from Leigh Road to the west, across the forecourt of the neighbouring 
car dealership. Visually therefore the development should be of a high quality 
and respond to both these scale – i.e. near and far – as well as the differing 
characters of Leigh Road and the parkland. 

 
83. When viewed from Leigh Road, the size and scale of the building will give it 

presence, although concerns remain with regards to the legibility of the main 
entrance and that it is the western side elevation which will likely be more 
prominent that the northern front. Notwithstanding these issues, it is 
considered that a building of this size, height and scale can be 
accommodated on the site without having any adverse impact upon the longer 
to medium distance views from Leigh Road. However, it is the much closer 
distance views from Leigh Road, Villeneuve St Georges Way and 
Kornwestheim Way which remain of concern. These concerns are principally 
related to the quantity of car parking proposed and quality of the resulting 
space around the building and adjacent to the street. As discussed above, the 
desire to accommodate a high number of parking spaces has resulted in little 
space to provide sufficient landscape and tree planting to both provide an 
appropriate setting for the building, which would also help its relationship with 
neighbouring sites, as well as to mitigate for that proposed for removal. 

 
84. When viewed from the parkland to the south the building will effectively act as 

a bookend or full stop to the northern edge of the park. When compared to the 
neighbouring car dealership site, the application site is far more open and 
therefore needs to ensure not only that it is attractive when viewed from the 
park but that it also has a physical and visual connection. In terms of its height 
and scale, the visual impact of the southern elevation would not be dissimilar 
to the former Civic Offices, which was itself a three/four storey building. That 
proposed would also be visually lighter than the former offices due to the 
increased area of glazing and use of lighter coloured materials. 

 
85. With regards to connecting with the parkland, the amended scheme does 

include increased glazing to the southern elevation which will provide views 
both into and out of the building. However, there is no obvious physical 
connection with the parkland through use of a rear entrance for instance. It is 
acknowledged that a pedestrian access point has now been included within 
the amended scheme, but this sits to one side and runs down the side of the 
building through a gap between it and the neighbouring listed farmhouse.  

28



 
86. When viewed from ground level close to the site, i.e. from Villeneuve St 

Georges and Kornwestheim Way, the ground plane is dominated by car 
parking and provides little opportunity for interaction with the site’s immediate 
surroundings. This is disappointing considering the number of staff who will be 
using the building and given Villeneuve St Georges Way is the main northern 
entrance into the park. 

 
87. It is also disappointing that the opportunity for the tree lined avenue envisaged 

from the beginning of development proposals for the former Civic Offices site 
may have to be watered down given the close proximity of the building to the 
site boundary and desire for the quantity of car parking proposed. As 
highlighted above, the quantity of car parking and the resulting impact on the 
ability to give the building an appropriate setting, which in turn influences its 
impact upon the street scene and immediate character of the surrounding 
area, needs to be reconsidered and addressed if the above concerns are to 
be overcome. 

 
Parking 

 
88. As discussed above, the quantity of on-site car parking proposed has resulted 

in a number of issues with regards to the site layout and the ability to meet 
other requirements in relation to pedestrian and cycle access to and 
movement through the site, as well as the building’s setting and relationship 
with surrounding uses. The reduction from the originally proposed 200 car 
parking spaces down to 186 is a positive move but has not proved to be 
sufficient to overcome consultee concerns on design, ecology and loss of 
trees. 

 
89. Putting aside the design issues set out above, concern has also been raised 

that the inclusion of such a large number of on-site parking spaces does not 
help to promote or encourage the Council’s long held aspirations to create a 
greener and more environmentally conscious borough. This is especially so 
considering that the site is only a 10-15 minute walk from the town centre 
where there is a bus and mainline train station, as well as being adjacent to 
National Cycle Networks 23 & 24, together with the Borough’s own extensive 
cycle network. In planning terms the site is very sustainable and can easily be 
accessed by a number of alternative means, rather than relying on use of 
private vehicles. As such, a significantly lower number of on-site parking 
spaces would be considered acceptable. 

 
90. Presently the Council does not have any set parking standards for non-

residential development, nor are there any longer County Council standards 
to apply. As such each site and development proposal is considered on an 
individual basis and a view reached based on how sustainable the site is and 
the nature of the development proposed. Information submitted in support of 
the application sets out that were the old County Council standards to be 
adopted, there would be a need for approximately 230 spaces based on the 
office floor space proposed. However, what it does not take into consideration 
is that the County standards were a maximum standard and the requirement 

29



for parking decreased for development in more sustainable location, such as 
the application site. 

 
91. Notwithstanding the pure planning position, it is accepted that the commercial 

desirability of the development will to some degree hinge on the amount of 
parking provided. It is also accepted that it may be more than purely 
commercially desirable to maximise on-site parking in order to reduce the 
likelihood of staff using the nearby leisure centre car park instead, thereby 
limiting the number of spaces available for those wishing to use the leisure 
centre. As such a balance must be struck between planning and policy 
aspirations for the development and the desirability to maximise on-site 
parking. 

 
Traffic, Access & Highway Safety 

 
92. The main issue highlighted by those members of the public who have 

commented on the application relates to traffic generation and its impact upon 
existing congestion along and around Leigh Road, as well as highway safety. 
These are issues which are being considered by Hampshire Highways, whose 
formal comments are yet to be received. However, informal discussions have 
been held with County highways officers and it is not expected that any 
significant concerns in relation to traffic generation, the capacity of the Leigh 
Road / Villeneuve St Georges Way junction, or general highway safety 
impacts will be raised. It is hoped that formal Highways comments will be 
available before the committee meeting where Members will be updated. 

 
Trees 

 
93. The arboricultural assessment submitted in support of the application 

identifies and categorises those trees on site. These are categorised by 
grades – A, B, C & U – with ‘A’ grade trees being of high quality and value, ‘B’ 
grade trees being of moderate quality and value, ‘C’ grade trees being of low 
value and ‘U’ grade trees being considered as poor quality. The application 
site has a total of 19 trees within its boundaries – 4 graded as ‘B1’, 13 as ‘C1’ 
and 2 as ‘U’. All but six ‘C’ grade trees are proposed for removal, including all 
four of the good quality ‘B’ grade trees. Those to be retained sit on the very 
edges of the site and would be in very close proximity to intended parking 
bays, which raises questions of their long term health. 

 
94. While none of these trees are subject to any preservation orders, saved Policy 

59.BE (i) of the adopted Local Plan does state that new development should 
“take full and proper account of the context of the site including … natural 
features and trees worthy of retention”. 

 
95. Notwithstanding this, the committee has already accepted the loss of these 

trees in principle through the resolution to grant outline consent in in May 
2016 (O/15/77116). However, the Committee made it clear that any proposed 
mitigation for the loss of trees would have to be above and beyond that lost, 
both in terms of numbers and quality of habitat, with a two for one ratio 
suggested. Whilst the submitted site layout includes up to 23 new trees, this 

30



does not meet the committee’s request of 2 for 1 (13 trees being removed) 
and nor will they be of the same quality in terms of their size, species or long 
term amenity impact of those lost, in particular those higher quality ‘B’ grade 
trees. However, there may be scope to address this if more of the site were 
given over to landscape planting rather than car parking. 

 
Nature Conservation & Biodiversity 

 
96. Although it is acknowledged that the site probably plays a relatively minor role 

in the local ecosystem, it nonetheless does provide some habitat for local 
biodiversity, particularly considering its very close proximity to the 
neighbouring parkland. As has been highlighted in the consultation responses 
from the Borough’s Tree and Ecology Specialists, there are concerns that 
insufficient account of the impact upon the existing local ecosystem has been 
considered, and that the scheme as proposed provides very little scope to 
mitigate for that lost or to provide enhancements. Their principle concerns are 
the loss of significant trees and whether the landscaping intended is capable 
of providing biodiversity value equivalent to that lost. Criterion (iv) of saved 
Policy 59.BE states that developments should “provide a high standard of 
landscape design and appropriate planting where required. Development 
should use native plants in landscape schemes to benefit biodiversity.” 

 
97. While conditions relating to the submission of a landscaping scheme could be 

applied as part of a planning approval, it needs to be demonstrated that there 
is sufficient scope to provide such a scheme in a successful manner. 

 
Drainage & Flooding 

 
98. While the application site was previously developed, other than the former 

Council office building, the site was generally well landscaped and did not 
have a high percentage of hardstanding. This would have allowed fairly 
natural drainage to occur. This previous situation was quite different from that 
now proposed. The intension to essentially utilise almost all the site for car 
parking or hardstanding will require an appropriate surface water drainage 
solution to be installed. Not only will this system need to deal with the quantity 
of water collected but it must also ensure that it is appropriately filtered for 
contaminants given that the intension is to discharge this surface water runoff 
into the large box culvert which runs down the middle of Villeneuve St 
Georges Way and south into the park. This culvert discharges into the Monks 
Brook approximately 150 metres away which is an important watercourse as it 
is a tributary of the River Itchen which is internationally protected for its 
special biodiversity habitat. As such the quality of water being discharged into 
the Monks Brook will have a direct impact upon the River Itchen. 

 
99. Details of a drainage strategy have been submitted and are currently being 

reviewed by Hampshire County Council’s Flood and Water Management 
Team. It is hoped that their response will be available before the committee 
meeting when Members can be updated. This strategy proposes collecting 
surface water in a series of underground attenuation tanks before discharging 
it at a controlled rate into the culvert. However, the strategy at this stage does 

31



not appear to include any form of filtration to ensure water quality of the 
Monks Brook is protected. Given that there is no room on site to provide any 
form of natural filtration, it is likely some form of mechanical filtration will need 
to be included within the drainage system to ensure that contaminants such 
as silt, oil and petrol are intercepted before being discharged. This is the 
system which has been agreed and installed on the neighbouring car 
dealership site which is currently under construction. 

 
100. As the scheme currently stands the intended drainage system is not 

acceptable in relation to protecting water quality. However, a condition can be 
applied to any planning approval requiring full details of the intended drainage 
scheme, including filtration systems, to be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to works commencing. 

 
101. With regards to other drainage issues, it is intended that foul water will be 

discharged into the existing foul system. 
 

102. While the application site does not lie within Flood Zones 2 & 3, it will 
nonetheless be important to ensure that the development does not lead to or 
exacerbate any flooding issues elsewhere. Although details are still to be 
finalised, with an appropriate drainage system installed there is no reason 
suspect that the development would lead to problems elsewhere. 

 
Environmental Sustainability 

 
103. The Council’s ‘Environmentally Sustainable Development’ Supplementary 

Planning Document requires all new non-residential development of over 500 
square metres external floor area to achieve the Building Research 
Establishment Environmental Assessment Method (BREEAM) ‘Excellent’ 
level. This assessment looks at various aspects of a development from its 
location through to how the building is used during its lifetime, not just its 
design and the materials used. These are split into various categories, within 
which there are various credits which can be achieved, some of which are 
mandatory, and an overall percentage score is given. In order to meet the 
Council requirement of ‘Excellent’, a score of at least 70% must be achieved, 
and ideally more in order to allow for some margin of error during construction 
of the building. 

 
104. Following amendments to the originally submitted scheme, an updated 

BREEAM assessment has been submitted which gives a score of 69%. Whilst 
very close to the 70% policy requirement, this is not sufficient to achieve an 
official BREEAM rating of ‘Excellent’. However, there are a number of 
potential credits which could be achieved, such as confirmation that the 
development will be connected to the leisure centre CHP plant, which would 
push the resulting score to just over the 70% required for BREEAM 
‘Excellent’. 

 
 
 
 

32



Listed Buildings 
 

105. Concern has been raised by some consultees with regards to the proximity of 
that proposed to the neighbouring Grade II listed farmhouse and buildings. 
Although these concerns are acknowledged, the previous relationship of 
these listed buildings to the former Civic Offices building does need to be 
taken into consideration. The previous building on site was in much closer 
proximity to the listed farmhouse, being approximately 4.0 metres away at its 
closest point. The building also wrapped around the farmhouse on its 
southern side and presented a four storey high flank brick wall to the 
farmhouse. Considering this previous relationship to the listed buildings, that 
now proposed is a vast improvement. While it is approximately 5.0 metres 
away at its closest point, the office building now proposed sits alongside the 
farmhouse rather than wrapping around it. This means that the farmhouse 
would be far more visible and would have a much improved setting than it 
previously had. In planning terms therefore it would be difficult to argue 
against that proposed on the grounds of its impact upon the listed buildings. 

 
Archaeology 

 
106. As has been mentioned above, the application site lines on the projected line 

of the Winchester to Bitterne Roman Road and therefore raises the potential 
for Roman settlement activity in the immediate area, together with potential 
Iron Age activity given the close proximity of similar finds to the south east of 
the site. Given this potential, the condition requested by the County 
Archaeologist are recommended. 

 
Amenity of Neighbouring Uses & Surrounding Area 

 
107. When considering the impact of that proposed upon amenity there are a 

number of areas to consider: the proposed uses’ impact upon the amenity of 
existing neighbouring sites/uses, in particular the nearby residential properties 
on the opposite side of Leigh Road; the impact of existing neighbouring uses 
upon the occupiers of those proposed; and impact of that proposed upon the 
general amenity of the park and those who use it. 

 
108. The impact of a proposed office building upon the amenity of neighbouring 

uses was considered as part of the outline planning application, which 
deemed there to be no significant issues. The immediate neighbouring uses 
to the site are the neighbouring car dealership, the existing offices at Home 
Farm, the bowls club and Fleming Park, none of which are likely to be 
detrimentally impacted by activities associated with the intended office use. 
Equally, more sensitive nearby uses, such as the residential properties on the 
opposite side of Leigh Road will be protected from any potential disturbance 
through distance and the daytime hours of operation for the site. It is also the 
case that these properties are located on the opposite side of the very busy 
Leigh Road which results in a greater level of disturbance for residents. 

 
109. As for the impact of existing and potential neighbouring uses upon that 

proposed, there are not considered to be any issues of concern. As such the 

33



proposed scheme is considered to meet the relevant requirements of saved 
Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan and the Council’s ‘Quality Places’ 
Supplementary Planning Guidance. 

 
Planning Obligations / Considerations 

 
110. In accordance with the guidance contained within the NPPF, Saved Policies 

101.T and 191.IN of the adopted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-
2011), Policy DM40 of the Emerging Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-
2036, the Council’s ‘Planning Obligations’ SPD and the requirements of 
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations, there is a 
requirement for developers’ contributions to ensure on and off-site provision 
for facilities and infrastructure made necessary by the development, or to 
mitigate against any increased need/pressure on existing facilities. 
 

111. Contributions / Obligations towards the provision of the following infrastructure 
have been agreed and would be secured via a Section 106 agreement index 
linked as per the Planning Obligations SPD and HCC requirements: 

 

 Sustainable transport measures (TBC) 

 Environmental improvements and mitigation 

 Replacement tree planting 

 Public art 
 

112. The projects and measures identified for contribution expenditure will comply 
with the 3 tests set out in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure 
Levy 2010, in that the monies would go towards the projects which are directly 
related to the development, and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the proposed development. The contributions would be index-linked to 
ensure the contributions rise in line with the costs of providing the identified 
projects/measures. The obligations sought are necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms and to meet the needs generated 
by the new residents and the potential impact on existing services and 
facilities. 

 
Conclusion 

 
113. The principle of redeveloping the application site for office purposes is 

considered acceptable and appropriate given its sustainable location and 
good transport links. However, concerns have been raised by a number of 
consultees in relation to the site layout, the quantity of on-site car parking, the 
loss of good quality trees and subsequent impact upon ecology, together with 
the limited scope for suitable mitigation on site, and the resulting impact of this 
upon the setting of the building and its relationship with its surrounding 
context, in particular Fleming Park. 

 
114. Taking into consideration the above concerns, it is not felt that the application 

as currently proposed can be approved without further amendments to 
address and overcome these issues. As such it is recommended that the 
application be delegated back to the Council’s Housing and Development 

34



Lead Specialist in consultation with the Committee Chair and Vice Chair, to 
grant planning approval subject to:  
 
i) the receipt of further satisfactory amended plans and consideration of 
representations and consultation responses; 

 
ii) no material objection from Hampshire County Council Highways; 

 
iii) no material objection from Hampshire County Council Flood and Water 
Management Team; 

 
iv) confirmation that the development will meet BREEAM ‘Excellent’; 

 
v) any necessary condition additions or amendments, including updating the 
list of approved drawings set out in Condition 1; and 

 
vi) developers contributions towards: a) sustainable transport measures; b) 
environmental improvements and mitigation; c) replacement tree planting; and 
d) public art. 

 

35



 
 

36



1

EASTLEIGH LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE

25 September 2018

EASTLEIGH AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREA ACTION PLAN 

- UPDATE

REPORT OF THE ENVIRONMENT LEAD SPECIALIST

Recommendation

It is recommended that the Eastleigh Local Area Committee: 

1) note the contents of this update report regarding Air Quality in Eastleigh; 

2) note the progress in delivering the Air Quality Management Plan and 
associated actions in the area and it’s surrounds;

3) approve the recommendations for conducting an air quality source 
apportionment study to assist the drafting of the revised Air Quality 
Management Plan and that up to £10,000 is allocated from developers’ 
contributions, with final approval to be delegated to the Local Area Manager 
in consultation with the Committee Chair.

Summary
Following the January 2015 ELAC a request was made for regular updates on 
progress with the Eastleigh Air Quality Management Area Action Plan.  This report 
gives this update and identifies key issues up to the beginning of August 2018.

Statutory Powers
 Environment Act 1995, Part IV

 Air Quality Strategy for England 2007

 Air quality plan for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) in UK (2017)

37

Agenda Item 8



2

Statutory Implications
1. Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of 

competence, including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons 
resident or present in its area.

Introduction
2. All ‘District’ Councils have a duty to carry out reviews and monitor current and 

future air quality within their area and take action where objectives are being 
breached.  Areas which exceed pollutant objectives must be designated as an 
Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and a 5 year Action Plan produced.

3. The Borough has four Air Quality Management Areas

 Eastleigh AQMA No 1 (A335)
 Eastleigh AQMA No 2 (M3)
 Hamble Lane AQMA
 High Street Botley AQMA

4. The designated Air Quality Management Area for Eastleigh includes 
Southampton Road, Leigh Road, Twyford Road (part), Woodside Avenue 
(part) and Bishopstoke Road (part). The Eastleigh AQMA No 2 (M3) is just 
outside the boundary of the Area alongside the M3 motoroway

Background

5. The air quality measures focus on the levels of Nitrogen Dioxide, NO2, 
although the actions taken to tackle it will also help reduce Particulates PM2.5’s 
(fine particles) & PM10’s (coarse particles) in Eastleigh.

6. The air quality is monitored in a number of locations across Eastleigh Local 
Area using two principal methods.

 Diffusion tube data monitors NO2
 Real time monitoring stations NO2 & PM10’s

7. The Diffusion tube data is used for monitoring long term trends i.e. annual 
average levels of pollutants at a specific geographical location and 
understanding the spread of air pollution. The real time stations are much 
more accurate and very sensitive to fluctuations in pollution levels and can 
show changes as they happen during the course of a day.

8. There are 17 diffusion tubes located in the Eastleigh Local Area at the 
following locations:

 Belmont Road
 Bishopstoke Road
 Campbell Road
 Chestnut Avenue

38



3

 Chestnut Close
 Dove Dale
 Hadleigh Gardens
 Mill Street
 Oxburgh Close
 Passfield Avenue
 Pluto Road
 The Point
 Southampton Road x2
 Sparrow Square
 Twyford Road
 Woodside Avenue

9. The real time monitoring stations are at the following locations:

 The Point Theatre
 Southampton Road

10. This report will focus on the recorded pollution levels from the real time 
monitoring stations and the annual trends from the Diffusion Tube data.

11. An update for the Eastleigh Air Quality Action Plan is provided in Appendix B. 
This gives an overview of the progress and activity in support of the action 
plan to date.  

National Draft Clean Air Strategy 2018

12. Earlier this year the Government consulted on its draft Clean Air Strategy 
2018 which is due to be published in spring 2019. This highlighted the need 
for local authorities to continue to tackle nitrogen dioxide pollution; however it 
also proposed strict new targets for particulate matter, based on World Health 
Organisation targets. Whilst Eastleigh currently meets the UK targets for 
particulate matter, we would not meet the proposed targets for particulate 
matter, known as PM10 and PM2.5. In this case we would need to review and 
amend our air quality management areas and update our action plans 
accordingly. The Government identified in its consultation that agriculture 
contributes to this particulate matter and proposes action to help reduce this; 
however in urban areas a substantial part arises from vehicles. The emissions 
from vehicles come from exhaust emissions as we might expect, but also 
brake and tyre wear which are unlikely to change much even with the uptake 
of cleaner vehicles, including electric, in future.   The future Air Quality 
Management Plans will incorporate the new Government standards once set 
and will identify policies and actions to actively address the issues where 
possible.

13. The Government is also looking at restrictions on the fuels that can be burned 
in solid fuel appliances. This is because some fuels and appliances can give 
rise to high levels of particulates. With the Government emphasising the need 
to tackle particulate matter this may give rise to restrictors on fuels that can be 

39



4

obtained, most likely coal, and also on the seasoning of wood based fuels, to 
ensure that they have a low water content, and also on approvals for stoves. 
The numbers of such appliances in Eastleigh are not known, however 
nationally the usage of wood burning stoves is on the increase, and emissions 
form them are a relatively small but important contributor to particulate matter 
in urban areas.

Air Quality Monitoring results

14. Air quality monitoring data for the three automatic monitoring stations in 
Eastleigh for 2018 so far can be found in appendix 3. The Council currently 
monitors nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter which is 10 
micrometres or less (PM10) concentrations in Eastleigh. SEE TABLE BELOW:

Site Pollu
tant

Air Quality 
Objective

Measured 
as

Value or 
Exceedances

*

Objective 
Achieved

**

Southampton 
Road

NO2 40 µgm-3 Annual Mean 39 µgm-3 Yes 

Southampton 
Road

NO2 200 µgm-3 not to be 
exceeded more than 
18 times per year 

Hourly Mean 0 
Exceedances 

Yes

Southampton 
Road 

PM10 40 µgm-3 Annual Mean 26 µgm-3 Yes

Southampton 
Road

PM10 50 µgm-3 not to be 
exceeded more than 
35 times per year 

Daily Mean 3 
Exceedances 

Yes 

Steele Close NO2 40 µgm-3 Annual Mean 29 µgm-3 Yes

Steele Close NO2 200 µgm-3 not to be 
exceeded more than 
18 times per year 

Hourly Mean 0 
Exceedances 

Yes

The Point NO2 40 µgm-3 Annual Mean 26 µgm-3 Yes 

The Point NO2 200 µgm-3 not to be 
exceeded more than 
18 times per year 

Hourly Mean 0 
Exceedances 

Yes

* This data is provisional and can therefore only offer an indication to the year’s results.

**- Year to date, given generally higher levels of pollutants in autumn and winter these 
annual averages are likely to rise.

40



5

15. In addition to the use of real time monitoring stations the Pollution Control 
Team uses diffusion tubes at 51 sampling points to ascertain the levels of NO2 
across the Borough.   Diffusion tubes are used for the monitoring of yearly 
averages and are not suitable for shorter monitoring periods.  Essentially they 
are used for the monitoring of trends and for initial assessments of likely 
pollution levels. 

16.    The following graphs show the annual average NO2 levels at 7 sampling 
points in the Eastleigh Area so that one can see the year on year trends over 
the last 6 years (2012 to 2017).   The Hadleigh Gardens sampling point is set 
well away from any major roads to provide an indication of the background 
levels in the area. For this reason the readings for Hadleigh Gardens is used 
in each of the graphs to provide an indication of the background levels of 
pollutants against which one can compare.  

 

17. The levels of NO2 are on the whole showing a slowing general downward 
trend with a levelling off or slight upward trend since 2015.   Some of the 
annual differences are due to climatic conditions and some differences 
between locations may be due to difference in location (height and distance 
from the kerbside). Southampton Road clearly looks like it will still be 
exceeding permissible levels by 2020 and others show that the levels will only 
just be under the permissible level and some show a recent increasing trend.  
There clearly needs to a significant change in policies and actions to address 
these issues in a more comprehensive way in the future AQMA Action Plans.

41



6

42



7

Progress in Implementing the Air Quality Management Plan

18. The progress to date in implementing the 21 measures identified in the Air 
Quality Management Plan is detailed in Appendix 2.

19.      A significant pressure that has faced the Pollution Control Team has been the 
inability to recruit to the post of Air Quality Specialist.  The post has advertised 
multiple times although a formal offer has now been made and accepted.

20. With regard to actions undertaken in support of the Eastleigh Air Quality 
Action Plan and other activities the Council has undertaken with respect to air 
quality in Eastleigh, the following should be particularly noted: 

a)   My Air Web Page
Eastleigh Borough Council’s my-air webpage contains the results of 
continuous and monthly monitoring data (www.eastleigh.my-air.uk). It is a 
simple and accessible way for members of the public to view and explore 
the data produced by the Council’s air quality monitoring network.

b)   The Air Alert Service
The Air Alert service has continued to operate since its launch in October 
2016. There are over 450 active subscribers across both Eastleigh and 
Southampton who receive our free alerts of potential air pollution events 
ahead of time. Whilst there were relatively few alerts in the winter and 
spring compared to 2017, this summer, due to the extended period of hot 
dry weather there have been a number of alerts with regard to elevated 
ozone levels. The period from late June to early July saw the longest 
continuous period of elevated ozone for 10 years. Fortunately, subscribers 
to the service will have received alerts and advice to help effectively 
manage any condition they may have. It is also a tool to help raise 
awareness of air quality in general and encourage more sustainable and 
active forms of travel. (www.airalert.info/hants).

c) Low emissions taxi incentive scheme
The EBC / SCC Low Emission Taxi Incentive Scheme: This is the scheme 
to provide financial support to taxi and private hire operators to replace 
older, more polluting taxis in Eastleigh and Southampton. To date there 
have been 5 grants awarded to operators in Eastleigh, all for hybrid 
vehicles. Following a hiatus caused by Defra reviewing the rules of the 
scheme, promotion is to pick up again, with efforts being focussed via the 
Clean Air Network set up by SCC earlier this year and via stakeholder 
events (information on the CAN website, leafletting of taxi stands across 
the two authorities etc).

d) Clean Air Day
Clean Air Day, to support Clean Air Day the council promoted the activity 
it has been taking to manage air pollution in the borough and this featured 
in the Borough News. Our activities were also promoted at the Eastleigh 

43

http://www.eastleigh.my-air.uk/
http://www.airalert.info/hants
https://www.southampton.gov.uk/environmental-issues/pollution/air-quality/concessions/


8

Unwrapped festival on the 23 of June.

e) Working with Schools – Air Quality Campaigns
Since November 2017 we have been working with Hampshire County 
Council Schools Travel Planning Officer to promote awareness and 
understanding of the issues around air pollution with school children 
across the Borough, this resulted in a competition between schools to 
come up with the best Air Quality Campaign. In Eastleigh this has 
included The Crescent Primary school (which is just off Leigh Road and 
adjacent to the Eastleigh Air Quality Management Area, AQMA), who 
came up with their own Air Quality Campaign plan aimed at reducing the 
number of car trips to the school and used surveys, questionnaires and 
posters to persuade parents to use cars less. Bursledon juniors won the 
competition for Eastleigh and their prize was climbing lessons at the 
Jubilee Sports Centre in Southampton. Engagement is ongoing with 
several schools across the Borough, and the Schools Travel Planning 
Officer continues to liaise and engage with other schools in Eastleigh to 
work on these projects to plan their own Air Quality (AQ) Campaign and to 
promote the Air Alert service that we offer.

f) Working with Schools – Air Quality and Health Exhibitions
The Access fund which supports the School Travel Officer has also 
funded an Air Quality Exhibit at the Winchester Science Centre, the aim of 
which is raise awareness about air pollution and the actions that we can 
all take to reduce it. The exhibit is interactive with the answers to 
questions shown on a pair of lungs to bring home the health impact 
message. In June Bursledon Juniors attended the launch event to 
represent EBC schools and to talk about what they’ve done about raising 
awareness of air quality. A mobile version of the exhibit has also been 
developed with the intention that it be taken to schools across the County 
to help explain the impacts of air pollution.

g) Air Quality and Traffic Movement Technology Testing
In December 2017 we started working with a local business ‘Iknaia’ to 
help the trial new a low cost technology to measure vehicle speeds and 
numbers linked to ‘Airscan’ a low cost air quality monitoring. Sensors have 
been located within the Eastleigh AQMA at The Point and Eastleigh 
House. The objective of the project is to see how well their pollution 
monitor performs when compared to the laboratory standard equipment 
that we operate, and to look to see how pollution levels relate to traffic 
counts and average road speeds recorded. Further to this Iknaia are 
working with the School Travel Planning officer to see if monitoring could 
be carried out near schools to measure pollution levels during the school 
run. When we have the results of this study we will update the committee.

h) Working with Bus Companies
The Sustainable Transport Specialist has been working with Bus 
Companies operating in the Eastleigh area supporting the development of 
new bus routes subsidised through developers contributions and 
promoting their uptake of Government Clean Bus Technology fund, whilst 

44



9

the original bid which EBC supported was unsuccessful a Southampton 
City Council bid was approved.   As a result funding has been made 
available which will result in all eligible buses having exhaust emissions 
equivalent to Euro VI standard by the end of this year. Because of the 
nature of the bus routes and operations between Eastleigh and 
Southampton and the bus depots located in Eastleigh, this will mean that 
all buses operating passenger routes in Eastleigh will be Euro VI by the 
end of 2018, and consequently this should give a real benefit in terms of 
emissions reductions in Eastleigh.  Xelabus recently acquired three 
Electric Hybrid buses and introduced a bus tracker scheme for parents to 
track their child’s journeys to and from school online.

Southampton’s Clean Air Zone and impacts upon Eastleigh

21. On the 21 June 2018 Southampton City opened the consultation on the 
preferred option for implementing their Clean Air Zone. They are required to 
have a zone by Government and the purpose of the zone is to bring emissions 
of nitrogen dioxide in Southampton down to legal levels as soon as possible. 
According to the consultation Southampton consider a whole city zone with 
charges for buses, coaches, taxis and heavy goods vehicles as the best 
option. This would operate in a similar way to congestion zone in London and 
be enforced with cameras on main roads into the city. 

22. Whilst a clean air zone is a good thing in terms of reducing pollution in 
Southampton, we have requested that as part of the detailed feasibility studies 
to be carried out, that Southampton model the impact within Eastleigh and 
especially how it effects our Air Quality Management Areas. Also, businesses 
in Eastleigh that have vehicles that frequent Southampton on a regular basis 
could be negatively impacted via the charges imposed; therefore we have also 
requested that they look at the potential for impacts on these businesses. 

The need for Modelling Air Quality and Projections for the future

23. We are currently in discussion with consultants who have been engaged to 
model levels of nitrogen dioxide and particulate matter in Eastleigh for 
assessing the impact of proposed development on air quality. The work will 
model predictive levels of these pollutants for 2020. The purpose of this is to 
ascertain how likely we are to meet the national targets for nitrogen dioxide by 
that date and to assist with our action planning around reducing air pollution. 
The modelling will be based on the projected traffic flows for 2020, changes in 
vehicle technology and will consider committed development.

24. In order to have an impact on air quality one needs to be able to target the 
sources of pollutants with specific actions and in order to know which types of 
vehicle to target one needs to know how much each contributes to as a source 
of pollutant; this is referred to as Source Apportionment.

45



10

25. When completed the consultants will also be able to look at various options 
that we might consider to reduce air pollution within the Eastleigh Air Quality 
Management Area and its environs, to see how effective they may be. At this 
time we do not have detailed costings for evaluating such options but would 
request that the committee make a commitment to support this work 
financially. The estimated cost of a basic source apportionment study is in the 
order of £10k. It is therefore recommended that up to £10,000 is allocated for 
the study from unallocated developers’ contributions for air quality from DC   
O/13/73698, First Wessex, re Land at Woodside Avenue, Eastleigh.

Financial Implications

26. The committee is requested to support air pollution modelling costs to the 
amount of £10,000. 

Risk Assessment

27.  No direct implications of this report.

Equality and Diversity Implications

28. Air quality disproportionately effects the most vulnerable in society notably 
people suffering from pulmonary and respiratory diseases, the elderly and 
young children The monitoring of air quality provides essential information to 
help prioritise locations and activities and the adoption of measures 

 

Conclusion
29. Eastleigh Borough Council continues to work towards the delivery of the   

Eastleigh AQMA Action Plan. 

BRET WILLERS
ENVIRONMENT LEAD SPECIALIST

Date: 12.09.2018
Contact Officer: Neil Scott
Tel No: 023 8068 8304/
E-mail: neil.scott@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 3

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this report or an 
important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in the preparation of 
this report. This list does not include any published works or documents which would disclose 
exempt or confidential information.

* List Background Papers or state None.

46



11

APPENDIX A Diffusion Tube Monitoring Locations ELAC

Hadleigh Gdns

Mill St

Bishopstoke RdPluto Rd

Southampton Rd

Woodside 
Ave

Key:

Red Dot = Diffusion Tube Location

Purple Shading = Air Quality Management Areas

Blue Line = ELAC Boundary

47



12

Appendix B. Eastleigh Air Quality Action Plan Update August 2018 

ID. Measure Progress to Date Estimated Completion Date
Update August 2018

E1 AQ Monitoring NO2 diffusion tubes within AQMA. Automatic 
monitoring for NO2 and PM10 in two locations within 

AQMA. 

n/a Monitoring ongoing.  Elevated levels found on A27 in 
Bursledon, more detailed assessment required to 
determine if breach of NO2 target also occurring at 
relevant receptor, traffic congestions caused by 
development in area also likely contributor

E2 Consider Intern Internship complete Completed January 2017. Project completed

E3 Park and ride Potential for park and ride in vicinity of M27 J5;- 
identified in draft local plan as a potential future action 
potentially deliverable in connection with sports pitches 

project. EBC will keep these park & ride
proposals under review in liaison with SCC,HCC and 

the Solent Transport authorities. 

No plans currently proposed. Park and Ride policy will be 
reviewed as part of Local Plan process. 

Inclusion of some text revisions in draft local plan 
recognising there may be potential for park & ride 
from Stoneham Lane, linked to sports pitches 
development proposals. 

E4 Increase use of 
public transport

2016 EBC Public Transport Review reviewed Council's 
subsidy for bus services and retained majority of 

previously supported services without change.  Over 
last 12 to 24 months there have been some 
commercially driven improvements including 

substantial investment in new lower emission buses by 
all operators, and improvements to frequency on 

certain services.  Bus use statistics not shared by bus 
operators as commercially sensitive but our 

understanding is that bus patronage on most routes is 
stable or growing on most core routes.   Train station 
usage at Borough stations up from 4.48m passengers 

p/a (2014/15) to 4.68m (2015/16)  

Public Transport Review secured Council supported bus 
services until 2020. Various minor bus stop improvements 

completed on ongoing basis.  South Western Rail 
Franchise awarded March 2017 following lobbying and 
consultation response by EBC, new timetable expected 
from December 2018-  EBC have responded in detail to 

the timetable consultation seeking/ making case for 
improvements.   

EBC have responded in detail to the SWR Dec 2018 
timetable consultation seeking/ making case for 
improvements.   Two additional EBC-supported 
Sunday bus services to Eastleigh (funded by BSOG 
money) implemented September 2017. 

E5 Overnight 
deliveries

Delivery and Service Plan project bid (Sustainable 
Transport Transition Year Fund) unsuccessful.

Not identified No change although DSP may be something we could 
include in potential future AQ funding bids

48



13

E6 HGV restriction No progress to date Not identified No change.  EBC has no powers of its own to restrict 
HGV movements and there are already weight 
restrictions on one route into the town centre, 
limiting potential for further restrictions. 

E7 EBC sustainable 
and CC group

No progress to date Prioritisation in 2017/18 with a view to establishing long 
term relationships. 

no change

E8 Electric hook up 
points

No further progress for publically available charge 
points. EBC continues to consider opportunities for EV 

charging and will seek funding if a case can be 
identified for suitable locations. There are a number of 
publically available electric charging points including 

two available in the Mitchell Road Multi Story Car 
Park. Officers will be attending HCC public sector 

Public Sector Electric Vehicle Charging Framework 
event in July. 

Mitchell Road Multi Story Car Park Charging Point 
installed 2011

We have had approaches from a company that 
installs EV charging infrastructure, they also arrange 
lease of vehicles which could be used as part of a 
project to provide a lease scheme to local business 
or residents to encourage uptake of EV

E9 Bus station - 
turn engines off

Not enforced. Once established, enforcement will remain ongoing. Initial investigations suggest this is not a significant 
issue

E10 Taxi rank - turn 
engines off

Not currently enforced. Low emission taxi funding bid 
successful which offers an opportunity engage local 

taxi operators on air quality.

 Low emission taxi marketing and implementation funding 
until March 2018. 

Initial investigations suggest this is not a significant 
issue

E11 Traffic free 
zones

Leigh Road cycle way in town centre modified to 
ensure provide traffic free space for cyclists in 2016. 
Dead end roads and cycle-/pedestrian only linkages 

incorporated into Eastleigh Town developments create 
areas of local traffic only reducing through flow of 

traffic in residential areas. 

Ongoing No further progress at present- no current proposals 
exist for extension of or new traffic free areas in / 
vicinity of town centre.  Romsey Road roundabout 
study (see E12) may afford some peripheral 
opportunities though?

49



14

E12 Better traffic flow Completed M27 Junction 5/ Leigh Road/ Woodside 
Avenue / Passfield Avenue upgrades affect traffic 

through Eastleigh AQMA.  Romsey Road/ Bishopstoke 
Road/ Station Hill junctions scheme at feasibility stage 
(including site investigations and parallel work for land 

acquisition)  ;

Not identified Traffic modelling studies ongoing in support of our 
Local Plan process, these are aimed at identifying if 
there are ways we can improve local traffic flows via 
developer-delivered/ related infrastructure. HCC 
have an ongoing study for improvements to Romsey 
Rd/ Station Hill roundabout and EBC continue to 
work towards land acquisition and other supportive 
actions (linked to town centre regeneration) which 
would release land for this scheme.  However 
funding of the overall scheme a significant issue- 
unlikely to be affordable without a funding bid, or 
major new development to provide contributions. 

E13 Chickenhall Link 
Road

Design work and discussion in Sustainable Transport 
Study. Land safeguarded as a saved policy from the 

Adopted EBC Local Plan (91.T).  

Long term aspiration. No further progress-  desirable scheme but 
unfunded (despite political commitment by 
Chancellor of Exchequer to fund road in 2015) and 
hence not currently being progressed

E14 Traffic analysis/ 
Source 

apportionment

Funding identified Estimated 2018 Modelling of NO2 and PM10 levels across borough in 
2020 due to be carried out in September 2018.

E15 Better bus 
routes

EBC Public Transport Review complete 2016. Various 
infrastructure improvements e.g. minor improvements 

to bus stops & bus station have been ongoing (see 
previous AQMA action updates) and more are planned 
in future -  made as part of Eastleigh's commitment to 
a "Quality Bus Partnership".  Regular liaison with all 
three key Borough bus operators on various issues. 

Quality bus partnership improvement works ongoing. 
Review , meetings with operators and lobbying on various 

issues ongoing.  

Bluestar 2 bike2 bus completed at 12 locations 
summer 2017.     Improvements to Sunday/ bank 
holiday bus services on several routes passing 
through AQMA in 2017- some commercially driven, 
some funded by EBC using BSOG funds.  Several bus 
stop improvement schemes planned (e.g. 3 sites on 
key route through Bishopstoke) in this year’s 
programme subject to staff capacity.

E16 Bus day ticket 
for Eastleigh

Solent go card provides a framework for a local multi-
operator day ticket. A bus day ticket is also available 

for the "Southampton Plus" zone operated by Bluestar 
1,2,3 and 5. Possible to purchase Green Day rider 

from Xelabus to travel for the day. Work on Eastleigh 
multi-operator ticket not currently resourced.  

Day tickets for certain operators available however not 
interchangeable. New First / MTR south western franchise 

may help progress integration of rail options on south 
Hants wide Solent Go card.  

No further progress. 

50



15

E17 Cycle network 
improvement

Leigh Road cycle way in town centre has been kerbed 
to provide traffic free space for cyclists in 2016. An off 

road shared path along Chestnut Avenue near the 
colleges also completed 2016. Bus stop parking 
scheme extended to Bluestar 2 route 2017.  To 

encourage cycling a "mum & baby" cycle group will be 
established at Fleming Park funded using 

Southampton area "Access" fund money.  EBC/ HCC 
working to deliver Hut Hill (Chandler's Ford-

Southampton) phase 1 scheme later 2017; feasibility 
work ongoing for completion of missing section of 

Bishopstoke Road cycle link for delivery circa 2018-19;  
South of Chestnut Avenue major development site 

(which should deliver some significant cycle 
infrastructure improvements) at planning reserved 

matters stage and if approved implementation likely to 
occur over next few years. 

Ongoing Work ongoing to deliver cycle infrastructure on 
various routes in vicinity of AQMA. Hut Hill phase 1 
still in HCC delivery plan (to be delivered by EBC) for 
2017/18, but being held up by an outstanding land 
transfer).  Study work on improvements related to 
development on Stoneham Lane undertaken; this 
will lead to improved design of some parts of 
developer-delivered cycle links in the area (to be 
delivered in coming years).  Bishopstoke Rd "missing 
link" - funding identified and now working with HCC 
towards delivery of this key missing section of route.    
Lakeside cycle route (related to south of chestnut 
have development)- design work being undertaken 
for new/improved links in this area (for which 
funding is available).  .

E18 More secure 
cycle storage

Secure cycle storage at Eastleigh station removed as 
under-used, poorly located, and wasteful of space 
required for the forecourt improvements (2014).

 No change

E19 Increase trees Considered and implemented on a case by case basis. Ongoing 2 for 1 policy

E20 Improved eco 
engines

Awarded funding from Defra for implementation of Low 
emission taxi scheme in Southampton & Eastleigh. 
Resubmission of OLEV Bluestar 2 micro hybrid bus 

bid.

Defra AQ Grant (Low emission taxis) - 2018 Taxi Low emission grant scheme secured funding. 
Clean Bus Technology fund all buses on passenger 
routes in EBC Euro VI equivalent by end 2018

51



16

E21 New improved 
buses

Ongoing for operator led initiatives. Resubmission of 
OLEV Bluestar 2 micro hybrid bus bid early 2017. 

Ongoing for operator led initiatives. Resubmission for 
funding from OLEV unsuccessful. 

See E20

52



17

Appendix C. Monitoring data measured at automatic stations in Eastleigh (Provisional data only, subject 
to further ratification and validation).  

Southampton Road - Nitrogen dioxide 2018 to date

0

50

100

150

200

250

C
o

n
ce

n
tr

at
io

n
 u

g
/m

3

Date

Nitrogen Dioxide (Jan to August) Southampton Road

Nitrogen Dioxide (ug/m3) NO2 Annual NO2 Hourly

53



18

Annual Average measured = 39ug/m3 Annual Target Value = 40 ug/m3

Exceedances of 1 hour target value = 0 1 hour Target Value = 200 ug/m3

Data Capture Rate* (Jan-August) = 57%

Note- * Missing data July to August due to service engineer mis-setting the instrument after service. The data has been 
removed until Kings College complete the end of year ratification when we will find out if it is recoverable.

54



19

Southampton Road - Particulate Matter PM10, 2018 to date - Daily Average

0.00

10.00

20.00

30.00

40.00

50.00

60.00

Co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n,
 u

g/
m

3

Date

Southampton Road (Jan-August) Particulate Matter, PM10.

PM10 24 hour Annual Limit 40 24 hour limit 50

Note: The TEOM is currently offline. It has developed a fault and is with our service engineers being repaired.

55



20

Southampton Road - Particulate Matter PM10, 2018 to date - Rolling 24 hour average

1/1/2018 0:001/7/2018 0:001/13/2018 0:001/19/2018 0:001/25/2018 0:001/31/2018 0:002/6/2018 0:002/12/2018 0:002/18/2018 0:002/24/2018 0:003/2/2018 0:003/8/2018 0:003/14/2018 0:003/20/2018 0:003/26/2018 0:004/1/2018 0:004/7/2018 0:004/13/2018 0:004/19/2018 0:004/25/2018 0:005/1/2018 0:005/7/2018 0:005/13/2018 0:005/19/2018 0:005/25/2018 0:005/31/2018 0:006/6/2018 0:006/12/2018 0:006/18/2018 0:006/24/2018 0:006/30/2018 0:007/6/2018 0:007/12/2018 0:007/18/2018 0:007/24/2018 0:007/30/2018 0:008/5/2018 0:008/11/2018 0:00
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70
PM10 Rolling 24 hr PM10 24 hour PM10 24 hour target PM10 Annual

Southampton Road, PM10, rolling 24 hour average, Jan to August 2018

Date

Co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n,
 u

g/
m

3

56



21

Annual Average measured = 26ug/m3 Annual Target Value = 40 ug/m3

Exceedances of 24 hour target value* = 5   24 hour Target Value = 50 ug/m3

8 February 18

01 March 18

19 April 18

1 May 18

8-May 18

Data Capture Rate** (Jan-August) = 60%

Note:

* - This is provisional and dependant on data ratification. Rolling 24 hour average values differ from ‘daily’ averages due to 
different sampling periods 

** - Data gap in early May due to instrument breakdown and time taken to effect repair

57



22

Steele Close - Nitrogen Dioxide 2018 to date

1/1/2018 0:001/7/2018 0:001/13/2018 0:001/19/2018 0:001/25/2018 0:001/31/2018 0:002/6/2018 0:002/12/2018 0:002/18/2018 0:002/24/2018 0:003/2/2018 0:003/8/2018 0:003/14/2018 0:003/20/2018 0:003/26/2018 0:004/1/2018 0:004/7/2018 0:004/13/2018 0:004/19/2018 0:004/25/2018 0:005/1/2018 0:005/7/2018 0:005/13/2018 0:005/19/2018 0:005/25/2018 0:005/31/2018 0:006/6/2018 0:006/12/2018 0:006/18/2018 0:006/24/2018 0:006/30/2018 0:007/6/2018 0:007/12/2018 0:007/18/2018 0:007/24/2018 0:007/30/2018 0:008/5/2018 0:008/11/2018 0:008/17/2018 0:008/23/2018 0:00
0

50

100

150

200

250

Nitrogen Dioxide (ug/m3) Annual Target 40 Hourly Target 200

Steele Close (Jan to August), Nitrogen Dioxide

Date

Co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n,
 u

g/
m

3

58



23

Annual Average measured = 29ug/m3 Annual Target Value = 40 ug/m3

Exceedances of 1 hour target value = 0 1 hour Target Value = 200 ug/m3

Data Capture Rate (Jan to August) = 64%

59



24

The Point - Nitrogen Dioxide, 2018 to date

1/
1/

20
18

 0
:0

0
1/

7/
20

18
 0

:0
0

1/
13

/2
01

8 
0:

00
1/

19
/2

01
8 

0:
00

1/
25

/2
01

8 
0:

00
1/

31
/2

01
8 

0:
00

2/
6/

20
18

 0
:0

0
2/

12
/2

01
8 

0:
00

2/
18

/2
01

8 
0:

00
2/

24
/2

01
8 

0:
00

3/
2/

20
18

 0
:0

0
3/

8/
20

18
 0

:0
0

3/
14

/2
01

8 
0:

00
3/

20
/2

01
8 

0:
00

3/
26

/2
01

8 
0:

00
4/

1/
20

18
 0

:0
0

4/
7/

20
18

 0
:0

0
4/

13
/2

01
8 

0:
00

4/
19

/2
01

8 
0:

00
4/

25
/2

01
8 

0:
00

5/
1/

20
18

 0
:0

0
5/

7/
20

18
 0

:0
0

5/
13

/2
01

8 
0:

00
5/

19
/2

01
8 

0:
00

5/
25

/2
01

8 
0:

00
5/

31
/2

01
8 

0:
00

6/
6/

20
18

 0
:0

0
6/

12
/2

01
8 

0:
00

6/
18

/2
01

8 
0:

00
6/

24
/2

01
8 

0:
00

6/
30

/2
01

8 
0:

00
7/

6/
20

18
 0

:0
0

7/
12

/2
01

8 
0:

00
7/

18
/2

01
8 

0:
00

7/
24

/2
01

8 
0:

00
7/

30
/2

01
8 

0:
00

8/
5/

20
18

 0
:0

0
8/

11
/2

01
8 

0:
00

8/
17

/2
01

8 
0:

00
8/

23
/2

01
8 

0:
00

0.00

50.00

100.00

150.00

200.00

250.00

NO2 hourly ug/m3 Annual Target 40 Hourly Target 200

The Point (Jan to August) Nitrogen Dioxide

Date

Co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n,
 u

g/
m

3

60



25

Annual Average measured = 26ug/m3 Annual Target Value = 40 ug/m3

Exceedances of 1 hour target value = 0 1 hour Target Value = 200 ug/m3

Data Capture Rate = 99%

61



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Planning Application - Former Civic Office Site, Eastleigh
	8 Air Quality - Six Monthly Update

